AD

USARMY MEDICAL RESEARCH LABORATORY

FORT KNOX, KENTUCKY 40121

REPORT NO. 858

A FAIL-SAFE APPROACH TO INCOMPATIBLE BLOOD TRANSFUSIONS

(Progress Report)

by

Robert M. Nalbandian, M.D. LTC Frank R. Camp, Jr., MSC COL Nicholas F. Conte, MC and Dale L. Kessler, M.D.

9 March 1970



¢

This document has been approved for public release and sale; its distribution is unlimited.



A 205560

REPORT NO. 858

A FAIL-SAFE APPROACH TO INCOMPATIBLE BLOOD TRANSFUSIONS

(Progress Report)

by

Robert M. Nalbandian, M.D.* LTC Frank R. Camp, Jr., MSC** COL Nicholas F. Conte, MC⁺ and Dale L. Kessler, M.D.*

*BLODGETT MEMORIAL HOSPITAL Grand Rapids, Michigan 49506

⁺Commanding Officer and Director **Blood Transfusion Division US ARMY MEDICAL RESEARCH LABORATORY Fort Knox, Kentucky 40121

9 March 1970

Military Blood Transfusion Reactions Work Unit No. 172 Combat Surgery Task No. 00 Combat Surgery DA Project No. 3A062110A821

This document has been approved for public release and sale; its distribution is unlimited.

AD

USAMRL REPORT NO. 858 DA PROJECT NO. 3A062110A821

ABSTRACT

A FAIL-SAFE APPROACH TO INCOMPATIBLE BLOOD TRANSFUSIONS

OBJECTIVE

To develop a standard "fail-safe" system for managing incompatible blood transfusions.

METHOD

Minimum tests are specified for detection of incompatible blood transfusions. A salvage procedure is outlined and role-specific instructions are provided.

RESULTS

A cross-check for Incompatible Blood Transfusion (IBT) consists of the determination of only two parameters which will be diagnostically altered if IBT is present: positive Coombs test and an elevated plasma hemoglobin, compared to pretransfusion specimens. With a positive diagnosis of IBT, mannitol, stocked at all stations as an emergency drug, can be used instantly to salvage the patient. Thereupon, a coexistent consumption coagulopathy is investigated and managed according to a panel of coagulation parameters.

The principles of cross-checking at the operational level of the ward and the laboratory are embodied in segregated, delegated instructions, one for each member of the investigative team. Thus, rolespecific sets of instructions produce a synchronous, automatic effort, accommodating all types of blood transfusion reactions. A hospital-wide detection and salvage system for victims of IBT is thus made immediately available to the pathologist who will adopt these forms and instructions in toto. A form (Blood Transfusion Reaction Report) is developed which protects to a great extent physician and hospital alike from litigation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ļ

	<u>Page No</u> .
INTRODUCTION	1
PRINCIPLES OF DIAGNOSIS	1
PRINCIPLES OF THERAPY	2
IMPLEMENTATION OF THE CROSS-CHECK PRINCIPLE	3
SUMMARY	4
LITERATURE CITED	5
GENERIC AND TRADE NAMES OF DRUGS	6
SUPPLEMENT	
ROLE OF NURSE IN MANAGEMENT OF BLOOD TRANSFUSION REACTION	8
ROLE OF PHYSICIAN IN MANAGEMENT OF BLOOD TRANSFUSION REACTION	9
ROLE OF ANESTHESIOLOGIST IN MANAGEMENT OF BLOOD TRANSFUSION REACTION	15
ROLE OF LABORATORY PERSONNEL IN MANAGEMENT OF BLOOD TRANSFUSION REACTION	17
TABLE 1	19
FIGURE 1	21

A FAIL-SAFE APPROACH TO INCOMPATIBLE BLOOD TRANSFUSIONS

INTRODUCTION

The annual mortality rate from incompatible blood transfusions is an unknown quantity at present. Estimates vary from an incidence of 1,200 per year to over 25,000 annually (1). We believe that the methods described below will decrease the number of patients lost from this cause to an irreducible minimum (la). こうにき あるままでした きいろうち ちょうち

We advocate a technique for the investigation and management of the potentially lethal transfusion reaction, based on the principle of crosschecking rather than rechecking.

In this report an intricately coordinated but relatively simple and automatic investigative procedure system is discussed which is replicated in complete detail in the Supplement. It applies cross-checking principles to blood transfusion reaction problems in such a manner that each area of responsibility is delegated separately to a professional specialist for the precise and efficient completion of each area in a synchronized sequence. This system has been designed to serve two purposes: (1) the recognition of only two features of pathophysiology pathognomonic of a potentially lethal transfusion; and (2) the prompt initiation of lifesaving therapy. Only later is the offending antigen-antibody system identified. The order of priority is to determine the threat to the patient's life and to eliminate it--then other investigations may be pursued.

A Blood Transfusion Reaction (BTR), excluding late sequelae, may be defined as any admense clinical sign or symptom occurring singly or in combinations during or shortly after a blood or blood component transfusion and the result of that transfusion. A summary of BTR's of several types is included in the Supplement. Potentially catastrophic is the Incompatible Hemolytic Blood Transfusion Disease (IHETD) which is defined as that condition incident to a blood transfusion in which intravascular hemolysis of sensitized erythrocytes is so accelerated as to portend a possible fatality.

PRINCIPLES OF DIAGNOSIS

In analyzing data, it is infinitely preferable to confirm results by methods other than those used initially. Thus, in investigating a possible IHBTD, one must use methods other than those by which compatibility of the donor and recipient blood was originally determined. Under these circumstances rapid cross-checking of the parameters of pathophysiology in the patient is needed, rather than the traditional, time-consuming recheck of the entire typing and crossmatching procedure which may merely perpetuate original technical errors. In cross-check of a BTR, attention is directed only to those parameters of pathophysiology (2) which would be diagnostically altered if IHBTD were present. The two diagnostic parameters which also function selectively as early indices of severity are elevated plasma hemoglobin levels and positive direct Coombs test when compared with pretransfusion specimens.

Several papers (3-5a) have emphasized the aspect of consumption coagulopathy in association with IHBTD. It is essential to investigate for consumption coagulopathy once IHBTD has been diagnosed.

It is prudent to do a gram stain on a centrifuged aliquot of plasma from the transfused unit to detect the rare case in which the transfusion reaction may be due to gross bacterial contamination of the unit of blood.

The two determinations crucial to the diagnosis of IHBTD, however, are the demonstration of elevated plasma hemoglobin levels and positive direct Coombs tests when compared with pretransfusion specimens.

PRINCIPLES OF THERAPY

Since 1953, a growing body of both evidence and opinion has supported the use of mannitol treatment in IHBTD (6-9). On the other hand, universal adoption of this therapy for IHBTD is not evident.

There is a point in time beyond which mannitol becomes progressively less effective. Thus, the interval between the offending transfusion and the initiation of mannitol therapy should be as short as possible. We recommend the classification of mannitol as an emergency drug and urge that it be stocked at all hospital stations where blood transfusions are given. At each station explicit directions for the intravenous use of mannitol should be posted (Table 1). It is important to emphasize compliance with these measures; any oversight will increase the interval between transfusion and treatment, to the patient's detriment. Time saved in our proposed cross-check detection procedure and early recourse to mannitol therapy benefits the jeopardized patient, since effective treatment can be given much earlier.

When IHBTD has been diagnosed, it follows that mannitol therapy must be instituted and diagnostic procedures for a consumption coagulopathy carried out. If a significant coagulopathy is present, appropriate therapy is also added to the regimen. Probably in every case, and in variable degree, IHBTD is accompanied by a consumption coagulopathy. Because IHBTD may be superimposed on any number of very different underlying diseases, appropriate coagulation studies should be done to determine whether the coagulopathy is: (1) primary activation of the coagulation system with a secondary fibrinolytic component; (2) primary activation of the fibrinolytic system; or (3) coequal activation of both systems. Since treatment is quite different for each type of coagulopathy and fraught with disaster if treatment regimens are interchanged, the coagulopathy must be categorized. Continuous, intravenous heparin is the indicated treatment for category (1); epsilon amino caproic acid for category (2); and heparin with or without epsilon amino caproic acid is unacceptable for category (3), since Trasylol is no longer available by FDA edict.

The clinician should consult with the pathologist to obtain a profile of diagnostic and base line coagulation studies. In consumption coagulopathy the basic pathophysiology is the intravascular conversion of plasma to serum. The central therapeutic principle is the titration of the patient by intravenous, indicated drug to revert the serum back to plasma as guided by the response of individual parameters in a periodically repeated coagulation profile.

The state of the s

Because at present there are many different coagulation tests from among which pathologists may exercise personal preferences for the diagnosis of consumption coagulopathy, the profile of tests of coagulation parameters for diagnosis and for monitoring therapy is best left to the individual pathologist.

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE CROSS-CHECK PRINCIPLE

We now turn to the implementation of the principles of diagnosis and management of BTR and particularly IHBTD as discussed above. By segregating and separately specifying the duties and responsibilities of each member of the blood transfusion reaction investigative team (nurse, clinician, medical technologist, and pathologist), it has been possible to coordinate the *delegated activities* of several individuals located at various points in the hospital in order to detect early, and salvage effectively, victims of IHBTD. The mode of handling and recording the generated clinical and laboratory data on the Blood Transfusion Reaction Report form (Fig. 1) provides a document which, to a great extent, protects the physician and the hospital from the hazards of litigation.

There are four separate sets of instructions (see Supplement), one for each member of the professional team: (1) nurse; (2) physician; (3) anesthesiologist; (4) medical technologists. These instructions are posted at logical and appropriate stations throughout the hospital in segregated fashion such that the nursing staff only receive the nursing staff instructions; the physicians only receive the physicians' instructions, etc. (For the purpose of this report only, role-specific instructional procedures for professional personnel are attached hereto as a Supplement.

We believe that the proper role of the pathologist is one of consultation in the circumstance of a BTR. A patient with the manifestations of one or more of the several types of BTR has acquired an additional potentially lethal complication superimposed on the underlying medical problem which must be diagnosed and treated in that clinical context by a clinician. The clinician must be supported by pertinent laboratory data and by consultations with the pathologist. A diligent perusal of the figures and sets of instructions reproduced in the Supplement clearly demonstrates that this procedure system achieves multiple ends with maximum efficiency. While each member of the investigating team receives only his role-specific instructions, the composite result of the four different sets of instructions coordinates the several independent efforts to the extent that:

(1) A BTR emergency (always a possible IHBTD) is recognized by the nurse who stops the transfusion and summons a physician. She then follows the seven instructions listed on the Blood Transfusion Reaction Report (Fig. 1).

(2) The type of BTR is diagnosed and treated by the clinician with the benefit of instructions predicated on the cross-check principle. Lifethreatening emergencies can be dealt with effectively because specific instructions and drugs are at hand.

(3) There is created an historical record, the Blood Transfusion Reaction Report, which characterizes and summarizes the particular episode, and provides the hospital and involved physicians with documentary evidence in the event litigation occurs.

(4) Rechecking (retyping and recrossmatching) is done *after* the life-threatening possibility of IHBTD has been appropriately treated.

SUMMARY

In order to have maximum detection and salvage of victims of IBT, the approach must be one of cross-checking for evidence of incompatible hemolytic blood transfusion in the patient rather than the traditional rechecking of in vitro specimens. Such an approach to this serious clinical problem yields more pertinent information in much less time.

Each episode of a BTR should be approached as a potential case of IHBTD. Since it has been shown that mannitol infusion is a lifesaving measure in the treatment of IHBTD when given soon enough, a rapid, accurate diagnosis of IHBTD is imperative. Application of the *principle* of cross-checking in the patient for the presence of this clinical problem directs attention to only two easily determined parameters of pathophysiology which would be diagnostically altered if IHBTD were present. These two parameters are: (1) plasma hemoglobin levels; and (2) positive direct Coombs, when both are compared with pretransfusion specimens. If IHBTD is diagnosed, mannitol therapy is instituted immediately. Probable coexistent consumption coagulopathy must be diagnosed and treated in an appropriate manner.

We have evolved a delegated, coordinated procedure system for the investigation and management of the BIR's which is the logical implementation of the cross-check principle in the patient at the operational level of the hospital ward and at the laboratory bench (see Supplement). The pathologist is provided with a hospital-wide detection and ealvage system, which, if adopted in toto exactly as displayed in the Supplement, will: (1) detect at the earliest possible moment the existence of a BTR (including IHBTD); (2) detect a probably coexistent consumption coagulopathy; (3) mobilize swiftly lifesaving therapy in diagnosed cases of IHBTD; and (4) develop a record of the event as data are recorded on the Blood Transfusion Reaction Report. This summary record becomes part of the patient's hospital chart and to a great extent protects the hospital and physician from possible litigation. Most important of all, the death of patients from IHBTD hopefully may be eliminated.

こうちょう ちょうちょう ちょうしょう

LITERATURE CITED

- Nalbandian, R. M., I. J. Mader, R. R. Margulis, and F. R. Camp, Jr. Preventing death from incompatible transfusions. Postgrad. Med. <u>45</u>: 84-88, 1969.
- 1a. Nalbandian, R. M., F. R. Camp, Jr., N. F. Conte, and D. L. Kessler. A fail-safe approach to incompatible blood transfusions. Lab. Med. (in preparation).
- 2. Davidsohn, I. and K. Stern. Diagnosis of hemolytic transfusions reactions. Amer. J. Clin. Path. <u>25</u>: 381-393, 1955.
- 3. Krevans, J. R., P. J. Dudley, C. L. Conley, and R. C. Hartmann. The nature of hemorrhagic disorder accompanying hemolytic transfusion reactions in man. Blood, 12: 834-843, 1957.
- Rabiner, S. F. and L. H. Friedman. The role of intravascular haemolysis and the reticulo-endothelial system in the production of a hypercoagulable state. Brit. J. Haemat. 14: 105-118, 1958.
- 5. Rock, R. C., J. R. Bove, and Y. Nemersor. Heparin treatment of intravascular coagulation accompanying hemolytic transfusion reactions. Transfusion, 9: 57-61, 1969.
- 5a. Hardaway, R. M., III. <u>Syndromes of Disseminated Intravascular</u> Coagulation. Springfield: C. C. Thomas, 1966, pp. 296-316.
- 6. Owen, K., R. Desautels, and C. W. Walter. Experimental renal tubular. necrosis - The effect of pitressin. Surg. Forum, <u>4</u>: 459-463, 1953.
- Barry, K. G. and W. H. Crosby. The prevention and treatment of renal failure following transfusion reactions. Transfusion, <u>3</u>: 34-36, 1963.
- Schmidt, P. J. Transfusion reaction and shock. In: H. F. Conn (ed.), <u>Current Therapy</u>. Philadelphia: W. B. Saunders Co., 1965, pp. 239-241.
- Chaplin, H., Jr. Transfusion reactions. In: P. B. Beeson and W. McDermott (eds.), <u>Cecil-Loeb Textbook of Medicine</u>. Ed. 12, Philadelphia: W. B. Saunders Co., 1967, pp. 1051-1055.

GENERIC AND TRADE NAMES OF DRUGS

Epsilon aminocaproic acid	- <u>Amicar</u>
	- <u>Trasylol, Aprotonin</u>
Diphenhydramine	- Benadryl
Promethazine HC1	- Phenergan
Prednisolone Phosphate Sodium	- <u>Hydeltrasol</u>
Levarterenol	- Levophed

.

۱

SUPPLEMENT

The Supplement contains a replication of four sets of instructions for investigation and management of BTR essential to the effective application of principles discussed in the body of the report.

うちまたのです たちかく ちょうしょう ちょうしょう

ATTENTION: Nursing Staff

POST AT:

1. All Nursing Stations

- Laboratory (Blood Bank, Chemistry, Bacteriology)
- 3. Postanesthesia Recovery Room
- 4. Operating Room
- 5. Emergency Room

ROLE OF NURSE IN MANAGEMENT OF BLOOD TRANSFUSION REACTION

PROCEDURE:

- 1. Members of the nursing staff have several immediate responses in connection with the detection of a blood transfusion reaction.
 - a. Stop the transfusion of blood, but leave the needle in the vein with a slow saline drip attached.
 - b. Notify immediately any available house physician, intern, attending physician or anesthesiologist. The situation should be regarded as emergent and any available physician should be summoned.
 - c. Check for agreement of patient's name and number with the transfusion container labels and other records.
 - d. The nurse must follow seven explicit directions on the Blood Transfusion Reaction Report.
- 2. The nursing staff should assist the physician by carrying out any orders on a "stat" basis.
- 3. The nursing staff should determine that adequate supplies of mannitol are instantly available at the nursing station in case the physician should require its immediate use.

8

ATTENTION: Attending Physician

POST AT:

1. All Nursing Stations

- 2. Laboratory (Blood Bank, Chemistry, Bacteriology)
- 3. Postanesthesia Recovery Room
- 4. Operating Room
- 5. Emergency Room

ROLE OF PHYSICIAN IN MANAGEMENT OF BLOOD TRANSFUSION REACTION

Pages 9-11: Instructions.

Pages 12-14: Differential Diagnosis of BTR.

Page 14: Pertinent References.

A Blood Transfusion Reaction (BTR) is any adverse sign or symptom caused by blood or blood component transfusion and not related to the underlying disease of the patient manifested during or shortly after that transfusion.

An Incompatible Hemolytic Blood Transfusion Disease (IHBTD) is defined as that condition in which intravascular hemolysis of sensitized erythrocytes is so accelerated as to portend a possible fatality.

Early infusion of mannitol will save the fives of many patients with IHBTD. To test quickly for intravascular hemolysis, plasma is checked for pink or red color, a direct Coombs test is performed, and the plasma hemoglobin level is determined. Findings are compared with pretransfusion specimens, and if hemolysis is evident, mannitol is infused immediately (Table 1). The shorter the interval between the offending transfusion and the use of mannitol, the more effective the treatment. To expedite therapy, all hospital stations where blood transfusions are given stock mannitol as an emergency drug with explicit directions for its use. Also, consumption coagulopathy must be anticipated and managed if IHBTD is present.

1. BTR, including IHBTD, is a disease and must be diagnosed and treated by a clinician with consultative support from the pathologist.

- 2. Any physician must respond when summoned by a nursing staff member to attend a potentially jeopardized patient who is having a possible BTR, including IHBTD.
- 3. The physician shall determine whether a BTR of any type has occurred (see pages 12-14 for differential diagnosis of BTR). He must then institute appropriate therapy.
 - a. Among the several types of BTR, one which is potentially lethal is IHBTD and, therefore, must be recognized forthwith. In IHBTD, the diagnostic feature of intravascular hemolysis can be easily recognized. In IHBTD there will be:
 - (1) Elevated levels of plasma hemoglobin.
 - (2) Increased population of sensitized erythrocytes.

The former condition can be recognized by the determination of the plasma hemoglobin level (plasma turns pink at 20-30 mg % and above that becomes deeply red; normal plasma hemoglobin levels are 2-4 mg %); the latter condition can be recognized by the presence of a positive direct Coombs test which is quantitatively greater than the pretransfusion reaction specimen.

- b. Accordingly, the physician, after reviewing the clinical signs and symptoms, noting the pre- and posttransfusion reaction temperature readings, and the quantity of blood received by the patient, will determine the type of transfusion reaction sustained by the patient (see transfusion reaction type summary attached hereto). After instituting appropriate studies and/or treatment, the physician will complete the Blood Transfusion Reaction Report.
- c. If the physician decides there is a possibility of IHBTD, he should immediately draw a blood specimen in EDTA (purple cap, Vacutainer, #18 needle, 5 ml tube) with great care to avoid hemolysis and send this immediately to the blood bank as a "stat" specimen entitled "Possible Hemolytic Transfusion Reaction," along with data identifying the patient. At this point in the absence of laboratory data, if in the judgment of the physician there is an excellent clinical possibility of a hemolytic transfusion reaction, or if he has noticed grossly pink or red plasma, he may institute mannitol therapy in accordance with the directions attached hereto, while the laboratory data are being determined.
- d. Within a short time laboratory reports should be available which would indicate the concentration of the pre- and posttransfusion plasma hemoglobin and the pre- and posttransfusion Coombs tests. Significantly elevated plasma hemoglobin levels

above a normal value of 2-4 mg % and/or a significantly increased Coombs test are excellent evidence of IHBTD when coupled with appropriate clinical signs, symptoms, and history. Mannitol therapy should be instituted immediately (see directions attached hereto).

- IHBTD is accompanied probably in every case and in variable e. degree by a consumption coagulopathy. Because the IHBTD may be superimposed on any number of very different underlying diseases, appropriate coagulation studies should be done to determine whether the coagulopathy is: (1) primary activation of the coagulation system with a secondary fibrinolytic component; (2) primary activation of the fibrinolytic system; or (3) a coequal activation of both. Since treatment is quite different for each type of coagulopathy and fraught with disaster if treatment regimens are interchanged, the coagulopathy must be categorized. Heparin, intravenously, is the indicated treatment for category (1); epsilon amino caproic acid for category (2); and Trasylol with or without heparin would be acceptable for category (3). The clinician should consult with the pathologist to obtain a set of diagnostic and base line coagulation studies. In consumption coagulopathy the basic pathophysiology is the intravascular conversion of plasma to serum. The therapeutic principle is the titration of the patient by intravenous, indicated drug to revert the serum back to plasma as guided by the response of individual parameters in a periodically repeated coagulation profile. Because at present there are many coagulation techniques from among which pathologists have personal preferences, the set of coagulation parameters for diagnosis and for guiding therapy is best left to the individual pathologist. As with other data in the context of the IHBTD, the results of the coagulation studies must be recorded on the Blood Transfusion Reaction Report (on the reverse blank side).
- 4. If the blood in the blood transfusion container appears hemolyzed and/or unusually dark or blue-black, the possibility of bacterial contamination of the donor blood (and septicemia in the patient) must be considered. The laboratory will routinely obtain a gram stain and cultural studies on the plasma from the blood transfusion container. The gram stain report will be delivered to the physician shortly after the blood transfusion container is received by the laboratory. Cultural studies will of course be available a few days later, too late to be of value in the management of the jeopardized patient.
- 5. Consultation with the attending pathologist is invited at any time.

11

TYPES OF TRANSFUSION REACTIONS, THEIR RECOGNITION, AND MANAGEMENT

I. <u>Pyrogenic</u>: Any rise in excess of 1.5° F over the pretransfusion temperature level considered significant, but not diagnostic. May be due to platelet and/or leukocyte antibodies in some cases.

Laboratory Workup: None.

Treatment: Symptomatic.

II. <u>Anaphylactic or Allergic Reaction</u>: Manifested by rash, pruritus, and angioneurotic edema, swelling joints. Extreme cases (anaphylaxis) may have wheezing, dyspnea, and even sudden death.

Laboratory Workup: None.

Treatment: <u>Allergic or Hypersensitivity</u>:

Benadryl 50 mg orally or Phenergan 25 mg orally. In more severe cases Prednisone or Prednisolone 20-40 mg daily.

Anaphylactic:

Epinephrine 1:1000, 0.3-0.5 ml/q 5 min.

Benadryl 50 mg IV or comparable dose of other antihistamine.

Hydeltrasol 20-40 mg IM or IV daily or comparable other cortical steroid.

Levophed 4 ml and 1000 ml of 5% glucose and water at 1-4 ml per min adjusted according to response for hypotension.

III. Incompatible Hemolytic Blood Transfusion Disease: This is a potentially lethal condition and rapid accurate diagnosis and expeditious treatment can save the patient. IHBTD is defined as that condition in which intravascular hemolysis of sensitized erythrocytes is so accelerated as to portend a possible fatality. Any of the signs and symptoms listed on the Blood Transfusion Reaction Report may be manifested in varying degrees and combinations.

Laboratory Workup: See instructions attached hereto.

Treatment: Mannitol and therapy for consumption coagulopathy (see instructions attached hereto).

IV. <u>Circulatory Overload Reactions</u>: Signs and symptoms of acute congestive heart failure are present. Laboratory Workup: None needed.

Treatment: Individualized "standard treatment for congestive heart failure."

V. <u>Contaminated Blood and Septicemia</u>: Clinical manifestations of septic shock are present. This usually occurs with the administration of the first 50-100 ml of blood. There is evidence of rapid pulse, lowered or absent blood pressure, pale sweaty appearance, severe chills, feeling of impending disaster, coma, convulsions, and even sudden death.

Laboratory Workup: All that will be immediately available will be a gram stain on plasma from the blood transfusion container. State of the second s

199

Treatment: Management for septic shock including diagnosis and treatment for consumption coagulopathy.

VI. <u>Citrate Intoxication</u>: Citrate intoxication is most likely in infants who have been managed with exchange transfusions, but also can be seen in adults with numerous transfusions which have been given closely together and adults with impaired liver function. It is characterized by muscle tremors, EKG changes (prolonged ST segment, prolonged QT segment, pulsus alternans, depression of T-wave), and shock.

Laboratory Workup: As requested by attending physician.

Treatment: Ten ml of 10% calcium gluconate for each 2 liters of citrated blood (recently transfused) is prophylactic.

VII. <u>Potassium Intoxication</u>: Potassium intoxication is most likely to be seen in infants with exchange transfusions using bank blood from 9-21 days old. In adults, potassium intoxication may be seen in anuric patients who cannot safely tolerate increases in serum potassium levels.

Treatment: Consider use of glucose and insulin intravenously to depress the potassium level among other methods of lowering serum K level.

VIII. Other Sequelae:

- a. Thrombophlebitis: Thrombophlebitis is usually seen with transfusions which have extended for more than 8 hr continuously in the same venipuncture site.
- b. Air Embolism: Air embolism causes shock and dyspnea. Abnormal cardiac sounds are also auscultated.

The treatment is to place the patient on the left side, head down, feet up position.

IX. Late Sequelae:

- a. Transmission of Disease: Malaria, serum hepatitis, syphilis, brucellosis.
- b. Transfusional Hemosiderosis.
- c. Delayed Isosensitization.

COLLATERAL READING

- 1. Davidsohn, I. and K. Stern. Diagnosis of hemolytic transfusions reactions. Amer. J. Clin. Path. <u>25</u>: 381-393, 1955.
- Barry, K. G. and W. H. Crosby. The prevention and treatment of renal failure following transfusion reactions. Transfusion, <u>3</u>: 34-36, 1963.
- 3. Nalbandian, R. M., I. J. Mader, R. R. Margulis, and F. R. Camp, Jr. Preventing death from incompatible transfusions. Postgrad. Med. <u>45</u>: 84-88, 1969.
- 4. Bove, J. R. (ed.). <u>A Seminar on Hemolytic Transfusion Reactions</u>. Chicago: American Association of Blood Banks, 1967, 75 pp.
- 5. Rock, R. C., J. R. Bove, and Y. Nemerson. Heparin treatment of intravascular coagulation accompanying hemolytic transfusion reactions. Transfusion, <u>9</u>: 57-61, 1969.
- Schmidt, P. J. Transfusion reaction and shock. In: H. F. Conn (ed.), <u>Current Therapy</u>. Philadelphia: W. B. Saunders Co., 1967, pp. 256-258.
- Young, L. E. Complications of blood transfusions. Ann. Intern. Med. <u>61</u>: 136-146, 1964.
- Chaplin, H., Jr. Transfusion reactions. In: P. B. Beeson and W. McDermott (eds.), <u>Cecil-Loeb Textbook or Medicine</u>, Ed. 12, Philadelphia: W. B. Saunders Co., 1967, pp. 1051-1055.
- 9. Bunker, J. P. Metabolic effects of blood transfusion. Anesthesiology, <u>27</u>: 446-453, 1966.

Sec. 1

ATTENTION: Anesthesiologists

POST AT:

1. Operating Room

- 2. Postanesthesia Recovery Room
- 3. Emergency Room
- 4. Laboratory (Blood Bank, Chemistry, Bacteriology)

ROLE OF ANESTHESIOLOGIST IN MANAGEMENT OF BLOOD TRANSFUSION REACTION

A Blood Transfusion Reaction (BTR) is any adverse sign or symptom caused by blood or blood component transfusion and not related to the underlying disease of the patient manifested during or shortly after that transfusion.

An Incompatible Hemolytic Blood Transfusion Disease (IHBTD) is defined as that condition in which intravascular hemolysis of sensitized erythrocytes is so accelerated as to portend a possible fatality.

Early infusion of mannitol will save the 1: es of many patients with IHBTD. To test quickly for intravascular hemolysis, plasma is checked for pink or red color, a direct Coombs test is performed, and the plasma hemoglobin level is determined. Findings are compared with pretransfusion specimens, and if hemolysis is evident, mannitol is infused immediately. The shorter the interval between the offending transfusion and the use of mannitol, the more effective the treatment. To expedite therapy, all hospital stations where blood transfusions are given stock mannitol as an emergency drug with explicit directions for its use. Also, consumption coagulopathy must be anticipated and managed if IHBTD is present.

- 1. BTR, including IHBTD, is a disease and must be diagnosed and treated by a clinician with consultative support from the pathologist.
- 2. IHBTD in the anesthetized patient presents signs and symptoms somewhat different from those encountered by the clinician at the bedside of the conscious patient. In the anesthetized patient receiving an incompatible blood transfusion, the anesthesiologist will note:

- a. A marked generalized bleeding and oozing at the operative site.
- b. Severe shock out of proportion to the degree of blood loss.
- c. An appearance of bleeding and oozing from venipuncture sites which were previously dry.
- 3. If such observations are made, the anesthesiologist should proceed in accordance with the instructions issued for the guidance of the attending physician and the management of blood transfusion reactions (quod vide).
- 4. If IHBTD is diagnosed and consumption coagulopathy is present, the coagulopathy can be treated during open surgery (see Rock *et al*, Transfusion, $\underline{9}$: 57, 1969).

ATTENTION: Laboratory Personnel:

POST AT:

Blood Bank

1. Blood Bank Laboratory

Chemistry

2. Chemistry Laboratory

Bacteriology

3. Bacteriology Laboratory

の「日本語

日本意味いらいい

ROLE OF LABORATORY PERSONNEL IN MANAGEMENT OF BLOOD TRANSFUSION REACTION

- 1. It is the function of the laboratory to generate accurate, pertinent data and to report it rapidly to the responsible physician. If the data are abnormal or pathological, it must also be reported to the attending pathologist immediately.
- 2. When the blood transfusion donor container is returned to the blood bank, the blood bank personnel should check for agreement of all identification on data on the container, the pilot tube and the patient. Any discrepancy must be reported to the attending pathologist "stat." The laboratory must generate and deliver data essential to the diagnosis of IHBTD as indicated below.
 - a. <u>Blood Bank</u>: The blood bank must determine immediately the Coombs test and its intensity on the pre- and posttransfusion specimens of the patient's blood.
 - b. <u>Chemistry Laboratory</u>: The chemistry laboratory must determine the plasma hemoglobin level on the pre- and posttransfusion specimens. Urine specimens from the patient taken at the time of the transfusion reaction and 4 hr later will be received by the chemistry laboratory and held in the refrigerator. The pathologist will indicate whether quantitative hemoglobin and a specific gravity determination will be required.
 - c. <u>Bacteriology Laboratory</u>: The bacteriology laboratory will perform a gram stain on a centrifuged around of plasma from the blood transfusion donor unit and also prepare appropriate inocula of the plasma from the blood donor container for cultural studies.
- 3. The laboratory reports the data from the Coombs test, the plasma hemoglobin, and the gram stain to the attending physician as rapidly as they are ready. Any abnormal values are also reported to the attending pathologist.

- 4. Data from the Coombs test, the plasma hemoglobin, the gram stain, and ANY OTHER LABORATORY WORK DONE IN CONNECTION WITH THE INVESTI-GATION OF THE TRANSFUSION REACTION MUST BE RECORDED ON THE BLOOD TRANSFUSION REACTION REPORT AS IT IS DETERMINED.
- 5. The recheck procedure (the retyping and the recrossmatching workup) can be done at a later time during the working day in most instances. Results of this recheck procedure must also be recorded on the *Blood Transfusion Reaction Report form*. If the posttransfusion reaction specimens show a significant increase in the Coombs test and/or a significant increase in the plasma hemoglobin levels, the blood bank should automatically prepare a compatible blood transfusion unit, crossmatched with blood drawn from the patient after the transfusion reaction has occurred. This blood will remain in the blood bank on a standby basis in anticipation of need for the treatment of the jeopardized patient, according to the decision of the attending physician.
- 6. Deliver the Blood Transfusion Reaction Report form after all pertinent data from the initial investigation have been recorded thereon to the attending pathologist.

TABLE 1

Potentially Lethal Hemolytic Transfusion Reactions Mannitol Infusion Treatment for

Note: Mannitol is stocked at this nursing station as an emergency drug and is mmediately available on request.

DIRECTIONS AND PROCEDURE OF MANNITOL TREATMENT*

tion is available in 250 ml bottles at all nursing stations, including this one. This dose will initiate Infuse intravenously 100 cc of 20 percent mannitol solution within a 15 minute period. This solua diuresis of 1 to 3 ml of urine per minute in an adequately hydrated patient. The same dose may be repeated if urine flow drops below 100 ml per hour for any subsequent two hour period. Mannitol may be discontinued when the patient can maintain a urine flow of 100 ml per hour without its use. If diuresis does not occur, acute tubular necrosis may be presumed to exist and appropriate and immediate treatment for that condition is indicated.

COMMENT

19

Time is of critical importance in treating incompatible hemolytic transfusion reactions. The degree of injury sustained by a patient is proportional to the time interval between the offending transfusion and the onset of mannitol treatment. Therefore, the sooner mannitol is administered the less severe is the injury. lf the history, physical findings and clinical course are such that a hemolytic transfusion reaction laboratory investigation, since under the conditions of use prescribed above, no direct adverse seis suspected as highly probable, mannitol infusion should be started even prior to or concurrent with quelae from the use of mannitol will occur. The gain increment of time difference in the interval between the use of mannitol and the laboratory determinations accrues to the advantage of the patient.

*From: Postgrad. Med. <u>45</u>: 84-89, 1969, based upon Barry, K. G. and W. H. Crosby, Transfusion, These explicit instructions for the use of mannitol are instantly available to the physician as is mannitol itself at each hospital station where blood transfusions are administered.

The Blood Transfusion Reaction Report (Fig. 1) serves multiple important purposes and when completed is a most valuable document. Initially, it is used to guide the nurse's activities. Then it serves as a summary record of the salient clinical features as observed by the clinician at the time of the event. It routes and accompanies appropriate specimens to the laboratory. Data from the Coombs tests, the plasma hemoglobin tests, and the gram stain are recorded thereon.

۱

If any of these determinations is abnormal, it is routed directly to the pathologist who may use it as a checklist for following the pertinent parameters in the jeopardized patient and for monitoring the response to therapy.

The plain, reverse page of this form can be used to record coagulation studies. The last and final function is an orderly summary record of the episode in sufficient detail to dissuade legal harassment.

In most instances, only a very few entries will be made on this record. But, since it must be adaptable to the occasion of an IHBTD, it serves as a most convenient prospective checklist for studies essential in the management and monitoring of the jeopardized patient.

.

BLOOD TRANSFUSION REACTION REPORT

CLINICAL DIAGNOSIS

HOSPITAL BLOOD

AMOUNT OF BLOOD _ REC'D, BY PATIENT _

. n·1.

ALC: N

ATTENTION - Nursing Staff

- Stop blood transfusion inmediately but leave needle in <u>situ</u> with slow saline drip.
 Summon any available physician immediately to attend patient.
 Check for agreement of all identifying names, numbers, an³ letters on pilot tubes, transfusion unit, and patients wrist tag. 4. Obtain and record pre- and post-transfusion temperatures.
- Ontain and record pre- and post-transfusion temperatures,
 Obtain an immediate post-transfusion urine specified and a second post-transfusion urine speciment 4 hours later. Forward properly labeled specifiens to laboratory.
 Request physician to complete box hereon marked. Clinical Signs and Symptoms.
 Send entire blood transfusion unit with this completed form to Blood Bank.

PHYSICIAN ONLY TO COMPLETE THIS SECTION		۰.		
CLINICAL SIGNS AND SYMPTOMS CHECK M		PRE-REACTION	REACTION	POST REACTION
Chilly Sensation	Date			
Severe Shaking Chill	Time	(Blood Starred)		(Blood Stopped)
Nausea Arthralpia	Temp.			
Angina Skie Pallor	Blood			
G.I. Hen orr Dvsynea Perspiration Oozing From Wound or Vempineture	Polse Rati			

PLEASE DO NOT WRITE BELOW THIS LINE. USE REVERSE SIDE IF NECESSARY

LABORATORY USE	ONLY .		Tine Rec d Tech						Date								
A. A. A.	TYPING		Anti-Sera Reaction Reverse				Countba										
RE-CREUK OF	1171146		A	В	A, B	D	d	C	A	A	<u>Г</u> 2_	\tilde{o}		Direct	Indi	rect	Cther
Patient's Pre-r	بلاق بالمدراقان	NU Sample								-	F.				— —		
Patient's Post-	reaction BI	ood Sanipie				┢				_							
Filot Tube -1			+	┢──	÷	┢──	┢┥								 		
Pilet Tube-2			+	∔	}	₋	₊	L	┢	┣				h	┫━━━━		ļ
Dunur Bloud Fr	on Contain	iv r	1.	L	1	I	L	L	L.,		L	Ľ		L	<u> </u>		l
RE-CHECK OF	CROSSMATCH																
Patient's Pri-r	Traction Ser	no San ali	Saline Coondby Albumin				1 Immune Autibody Anti-						I Day				
Patient's Post-	reaction Se	run: Saniple	+		+		+				_	┢			<u>,</u>		1
	STUBIES:	CEAN															
BLOOD TESTS	Pre-react	Day of React	Da	- 1	Dav-	10	av	1	Da	1.1	Τc)a v	- 5	Conn	nts (anchu	(ons
Hemoglobin	I					Т				_	Г	_					
Hemator rit						L	_	_			L		_				
Retar, Count				_		+-	_	4	_		+-	_					
Scrutte Plancia		}	1	1				1									
henuchhin	h		-			-+		-+		6.0	┿		-				
Bri rubin	+			-+		+		+			┿		-				
<u>Service</u>	¥			-+		╈	~	-+			┿						
Hantostoton	1	}	ſ					- 1									
WIRE TESTS	1		†	+		+	_	-+		~~~~	+			1			
Free Henroglo.	1]	1	1				- 1						1			
(Quantitativic)											1						
Free RBC							_				L		_	}			
RBC CARLA	L		L			+		4			+		_				
<u>B.h</u>	+		<u> </u>			+		-	~~~~		+						
Alburton				_		+		-			4		_	l			
Daily Output	1																
Spr. Grav.	1		1	T		Г	-	Т			T	_					

ENTER CONSUMPTION COACULOPATHY BATA ON REVERSE SIDE.

1 And the second

Figure 1

UNCLASSIFIED

Security Classification									
DOCUMENT CONTROL DATA - R & D									
US Army Medical Research Laboratory Fort Knox, Kentucky 40121	20. REPORT SECURITY CLASSIFICATION UNCLASSIFIED 20. GROUP								
S. REPORT TITLE	l								
A FAIL-SAFE APPROACH TO INCOMPATIBLE BLOO	TRANSFUSIONS								
4. DESCRIPTIVE NOTES (Type of report and inclusive dates) Progress Report 5. AUTHOR(8) (First name, middle initial, last name)	4. DESCRIPTIVE NOTES (Type of report and inclusive dates) Progress Report 8. Author(\$) (Pirst name, middle initial, last name)								
Robert M. Nalbandian, M.D., LTC Frank R. Camp, Jr., MSC, COL Nicholas F. Conte, MC, and Dale L. Kessler, M.D.									
6. REPORT DATE Q March 1070	74. TOTAL NO. OF PAGES 75. NO. OF REFS 21 11								
5 FIGUE 1970 Se. CONTRACT OR GRANT NO.	M. ORIGINATOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S)								
A. PROJECT NO. 340621104821	858								
e.Task No. 00	Sb. OTHER REPORT NO(S) (Any other numbers that may be eveloped this report)								
∠ Work Unit No. 172									
This document has been approved for publi unlimited.	c release and sale; its distribution is								
US Army Medical Research and Development Command, Washington, D. C. 20314									
Command, washington, D. C. 20314 Current methods of investigation for the detection of Incompatible Blood Transfusions (IBT) are time-consuming and, based upon rechecking, a technique which can perpetuate original errors. The efficacy of mannitol, if given in time for the treatment of this condition is well-known and poses an additional reason for the rapid, accurate detection of IBT By cross-checking patients in possible jeopardy, highly pertinent data are obtained with minimum effort. A cross-check in this context consists of the determination of those two param- eters which would be diagnostically altered if IBT were present: (1) positive Coombs test; and (2) an elevated plasma hemoglobin, when compared with pretrans- fusion specimens. Consequently, probable coexistent consumption coagulopathy is then investigated and managed according to a panel of coagulation parameters. The principles of cross-checking at the operational level of the ward and the laboratory are embodied in an evolved set of segregated, delegated, coordi- nated instructions: one for each member of the investigative team (nurse, cli- nician, anesthesiologist, laboratory personnel). Thus, with each member complying with instructions specific only to his role, a composite, efficient, synchronous, almost automatic effort to accommodate all types of blood transfusion reactions, but especially to detect and salvage IBT, is effected. A hospital-wide detection and salvage system for victims of IBT is thus made immediately available to the pathologist who will adopt these principles, forms, and instructions in toto.									
DD . HOW 1473 REPLACES DO FORM 1435. I JAN 64. 1	UNCLASSIFIED								
	Security Cleasification								



1

.....

1

HEADQUARTERS US ARMY MEDICAL RESEARCH LABORATORY Fort Knox, Kentucky 40121

ERRATA

USAMRL REPORT NO. 858

A FAIL-SAFE APPROACH TO INCOMPATIBLE BLOOD TRANSFUSIONS

by

Robert M. Nalbandian, M.D. LTC Frank R. Camp, Jr., MSC COL Nicholas F. Conte, MC and Dale L. Kessler, M.D.

9 March 1970

Page 3, line 1: ...caproic acid is unacceptable... should read

... caproic acid is acceptable...

Reproduced by the CLEARINGHOUS, for Federal Scientific & Technical Information Springfield Va. 22151

Issued:

USAMRL, 18 May 1970